
        
            
                
            
        


		
			Advance Praise for 
No Red Lights

			 

			“You know Alan Patricof as a legend, but now you’ll know why. AOL, AAPL, and Apax are among the many things he’s helped back and build, and those are just the ones starting with the letter ‘A.’ It’s like reading a real-life version of Mad Men except it’s about venture capital and Don Draper is still going strong.”

			—Chris Fralic, Board Partner, First Round

			“No Red Lights is an amazing thesis on building a life while building a business. What Alan Patricof has done in this memoir is to explain by specifics that success is about ethics, hard work, personal research, perseverance, and honest relationships, all with the understanding that ‘life is cumulative.’”

			—Michael D. Eisner, Chairman, The Topps Company; Former CEO Walt Disney

			“Alan Patricof’s No Red Lights is an invitation to adventure—in growing businesses, helping others, and leading a life where all roads lead in one direction: forward.”

			—Michael Bloomberg, Founder of Bloomberg L.P. and Bloomberg Philanthropies; Mayor of New York City, 2002–2013

			“A great read. Alan Patricof shows that, whether in business or in your personal life, perseverance wins the day!”

			—Eric Hippeau, Partner at Lerer Hippeau Ventures

			“This delightful memoir is a journey through all of Patricof’s incarnations, from a modest upbringing by hardworking immigrant parents, to the early days of venture capital, the founding of New York Magazine and the glittering heyday of media, canvassing for Biden in the nascent days of his candidacy, and the stellar rise of Greycroft, which has backed some of the most game-changing companies in our lifetime. At the crux of it all is Patricof’s prescience, curiosity, and humor. He’s as brilliant a storyteller as he is an investor.”

			—Gwyneth Paltrow, Founder of Goop

			“Alan Patricof is the youngest eighty-seven-year-old on the planet: more energy, bigger dreams, passion, and commitment than all of us slightly younger folk. He came into my life through my late audio pioneer husband over four decades ago, and never ceases to dazzle. This book will make you gasp at how Alan still reaches for ‘fashion and edge’ and properly defines some of his many chapters as ‘audacious.’ His fan club will need vitamins as we watch and applaud his next moves.”

			—Jane Harman, Former Congresswoman; Author of Insanity Defense: How Our Failure to Confront Hard National Security Problems Makes Us Less Safe

			“This book is invigorating, informative, and essential for anyone who dreams of being an entrepreneur…that also comes over very appealingly is how Patricof’s natural gregariousness makes him form so many fascinating relationships. It’s a particularly important lesson for the young today who are often stuck behind screens and don’t understand the value of personal connections. He really is a marvel.”

			—Tina Brown, Author and Journalist

			“No Red Lights is a brilliantly written and compellingly documented account of why Alan Patricof is one of the smartest, boldest, most imaginative, and most successful financers and venture capitalists of our era. It describes not only how he built his outstanding career, but also how he forged partnerships and teams with others who supported his success and whose successes he likewise supported. For anyone in the financial world, or any other profession, this is must, and constantly captivating, reading on how to begin, nurture, and grow great companies and a fulfilling career and life—one driven by competitive determination, high levels of integrity and commitment to the very best of human values, scintillating curiosity, and a constant quest for innovation.”

			—Robert Hormats, Managing Director, Tiedemann Advisors, LLC
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			To all the entrepreneurs and venture capitalists 
who dream big and have the courage 
to stake their careers on untested ideas.





Preface

			When Alan Patricof, my friend and business partner of thirty years in building Apax Partners, was raising his first venture capital fund in 1969, the world had a limited understanding of the important role ambitious entrepreneurs and fast-growing small businesses play in society and the broader economy. Investors and the average citizen firmly believed that large, traditional firms would be the ones to bring technological innovations to the market, create employment, and experiment with new ways of doing things.

			Now we can see for ourselves. Small businesses exemplify all the excitement and potential of pursuing new ideas and bringing them to life. Venture capital investing has exploded. From the tiny, $2.5 million funds of the 1960s, a typical venture fund now raises hundreds of millions—and many reach more than a billion.

			Venture capitalists no longer spend their time proverbially looking under rocks to find opportunities. Now they sift through hundreds of direct approaches by entrepreneurs each week to pick the gems that can bring new high-potential products and services to the world—and grow at 50 percent a year.

			Entrepreneurs, with fire in their bellies, face more competition today than ever before. Every business school across the world teaches a well-attended entrepreneurship track. At least half of MBA candidates, when asked, say they want to start their own business. Many end up ultimately replicating an idea that already exists, but some strive to build huge sustainable businesses that improve both lives and the environment.

			Alan Patricof has thrived through the growth and change of the past five decades, which saw the launch of the personal computer, the cellular phone, the internet, digital media, fintech, and podcasting. He has seen and helped spur all of them to mainstream adoption. The fundamentals of good investment decisions have not changed throughout Alan’s career. He still continues to place his bets on entrepreneurs and exciting business ideas with sky-high potential.

			Alan is a role model—a staunch supporter of the power of innovative entrepreneurs willing to take a step into the unknown.

			Despite the uncertainty of the COVID pandemic, there are new and exciting investing opportunities related to climate change, space exploration, self-drive vehicles, medicine, and changing values that propel us into a more equitable world. The view stretches far and wide, and there is no better person than Alan Patricof to emulate as we navigate these new realities. He is proof that life offers us many opportunities to renew ourselves as we contribute to and try to improve our ever-changing world.

			 

			Sir Ronald Cohen

			Co-Founder, Apax Partners, Chairman, Global Steering Group for Impact Investment (GSG)





Chapter 1

			You Get Where You’re Going from Where You’ve Been

			A typical mix of conversation was underway in the Greycroft venture capital offices one day in early 2020—back before we all decamped to our pandemic home offices. In the conference room, two partners talked about the recent IPO (Initial Public Offering) of one of our portfolio companies, the luxury consignment brand The RealReal. In one of the offices, two other employees reviewed the market projections for a start-up that builds logistics systems for grocery stores hoping to offer home delivery. An investor sat in one of the phone pods conducting due diligence on an eSports start-up, while another rushed out to watch a driverless car demonstration for Optimus Ride at the Brooklyn Navy Yard. Amidst all that bustle related to our portfolio companies—current and prospective—my partner Ian eased open the glass door to my office to talk about paint.

			Paint colors, that is. We’d outgrown our offices on the twentieth floor of a Madison Avenue building blocks from Grand Central Station. New Yorkers like me refer to this part of Manhattan as “midtown,” a warren of tired fifty-year-old structures with some newer glass-and-steel monsters mixed in. Ian, between meetings with entrepreneurs and prospective investors, was overseeing the renovation of a new space on the eighth floor. Yesterday, we’d seen the designer’s first ideas, and my response was not enthusiastic. Salmon pink at the entrance, bright blues on the walls. I couldn’t see how we got there from here.

			Greycroft’s twentieth-floor offices have a downtown, industrial look. When we first moved into the space in 2013, I’d wanted to capture the fashion and edge of downtown neighborhoods like Union Square and Tribeca, where New York’s venture capital firms have clustered since the 1990s. My plan was to headquarter the firm in that part of town, and I looked for more than a year, but couldn’t find anything that suited us.

			Madison Avenue was a necessary compromise to get Greycroft out of a subleased suite eighteen blocks north, near Central Park, where we’d made do for five years. Even that had been an upgrade after the two years we’d spent in the offices at Apax Partners, the $60 billion private equity firm that evolved from my first venture capital business, Alan Patricof Associates. But if it was going to be Madison Avenue, I wanted to bring downtown to midtown by using exposed AC ductwork and metallic support beams in our office design, and refining it with natural cement floor, glass walls, earthy colors, and modern art.

			“If it were up to me,” I said to Ian, “She would replicate exactly what we have here down there. Keep it the same.”

			Ian didn’t react. He didn’t have to. Even as the words left my mouth, I knew I didn’t mean them—not exactly. I’d built my career on the ability to recognize and take advantage of change. That doesn’t mean change is easy. But it is necessary. And inevitable. Like the move to the eighth floor. Like the move I made sixteen years ago when I left Apax Partners—which no longer emphasized venture—to found Greycroft. Like the biggest, highest-impact move of my life: leaving my salaried Wall Street job in 1970 to start a venture capital business—Alan Patricof Associates (APA)—one of the first in New York.

			It’s hard to get across in today’s tech-heady world how audacious that move was. The investment portfolios of the ’50s, ’60s, and ’70s were filled almost exclusively with the stocks and bonds of large, reputable public companies in traditional industries like commodities and manufacturing. I’d made my young reputation with four respected investment firms as a value investor, the approach espoused in the investor’s bible Security Analysis, by Benjamin Graham and David Dodd, and made famous by Warren Buffett and Charlie Munger at Berkshire Hathaway. I became known for making recommendations based on disciplined due diligence—a reputation I still carry with me to this day.

			Yet I was also interested in young, private companies from my first days on Wall Street, beginning in 1955. I gained a high profile in the 1960s as the founding chairman of New York Magazine, and for raising money for a start-up cardiac medical device company called Datascope. Start-ups like New York Magazine don’t have financials to evaluate, and for entirely new ideas like Datascope (or, for that matter, AOL or FedEx, two of APA’s earlier portfolio companies) the market didn’t exist yet; the company had to create it.

			Nonetheless, as I set out to start my own business, I knew there were exciting, early-stage companies looking for capital to grow, and private investors in 1970 could neither find them nor manage the investments once they were made. I saw a gap in the market and moved in to fill it. Through my Wall Street contacts, I was able to raise an initial $2.5 million fund.

			As January 1, 1970, dawned, I stamped my Alan Patricof Associates nameplate to the entrance of One 53rd Street. My landlord was Bill Paley, the former chairman of CBS, and my downstairs neighbor was the Paley Center for Media. In the upstairs space, Frank Thomas, CEO of the Ford Foundation, kept his private office. Outside our window sat the Paley vest pocket park, and on warm days, the smells from Paley’s public hot dog stand wafted through our open windows.

			Venture capital wasn’t much of an industry in 1970. It was more like an activity, its adherents a few scattered firms—most of them on the West Coast—making small investments in innovative start-ups. The National Venture Capital Association (NVCA) formed in 1973, and it was another five years until VCs had their first big fundraiser of a reported $750 million in 1978. In contrast, by the end of 2020, there was more than $548 billion in venture capital assets under management, according to the NVCA.

			The environment for start-ups in 1970 was also, correspondingly, a world away from what it became in just a few short decades. Tech-focused small businesses were beginning to cluster around Stanford and UC Berkeley, many of them incubated—formally and informally—by Fairchild Semiconductor. Here on the East Coast, we didn’t have anything like that kind of concentration. It was catch-as-catch-can until the early 1980s, but by then, Alan Patricof Associates was established and investing in companies like Apple, AOL, Cellular Communications, Inc., and Tessera Technologies, among many others inside and outside tech.

			More moves happened as APA matured and expanded. In the late 1970s, I met Ronald Cohen, who became my partner in the international expansion and eventual rebranding of APA as Apax (which stood for Alan Patricof Associates Cross-Border). In the late 1980s to the early 1990s, the US arm—which had always focused on providing early-stage growth capital—began doing later-stage deals. We financed companies like Sunglass Hut and Life Time Fitness, and Chevys restaurants. Those experiences gave many people on our team a taste for private equity finance. Apax moved permanently out of venture after the dot-com bubble burst.

			Moves carry a lot of symbolic weight, but they’re also literal. We move on from experiences that have lived out their time, and we take on the next opportunity. I founded Greycroft in 2006, with offices in New York and Los Angeles, after the dot-com dust had settled. I still believed in a core model of providing start-up and growth capital to early-stage companies, and I wanted to realize it with a new company focused exclusively on the venture capital opportunities coming online in the new-millennium digital age. My two founding co-partners, Dana Settle and Ian Sigalow, stood at each of my shoulders as we raised the first Greycroft fund of $75 million from investors I knew trusted my instincts.

			Our next major move in New York, to our current building in 2013, came at a moment when Greycroft was seven years old and closing its third fund. The firm had passed through venture infancy into adulthood, our reputation made with investments in companies like The Huffington Post, Axios, Venmo, and Buddy Media. Our move into a permanent home conveyed for us, our investors, and our portfolio companies the stability of an institution built to last. Dana and Ian also played larger roles in 2013, when we raised our third fund. In 2018 they would take the lead in management and fundraising, stepping forward as I began to step back.

			Our preparations to move again came as Greycroft began its sixteenth year in business. Ian and Dana raised the sixth core fund and the third growth fund, both the largest in their categories. The size of our firm and the size of our latest funds are signs not just of Greycroft’s growth, but of a new era of change in the technology start-up environment. Research-dependent companies building AI solutions, virtual reality, gaming systems, new transportation technologies, and any variety of digital platforms have longer development timelines and multiple rounds of funding before they turn a profit, go public, get acquired, or otherwise enable an exit for their investors. Some investments are larger and involve more institutions. We’ve moved into a new era.

			Yet many of the investment and start-up practices I established during my fifty years in venture still guide how we make investments as a firm and how we advise our portfolio companies. We abandoned practices that were no longer relevant or adapted them for changing circumstances. I’m often invited to share my perspectives on start-ups and investing in panel discussions, speeches, or television appearances, and I’ve had people with vastly different backgrounds suggest I write them down to share with young entrepreneurs and investors who’d like a cheat sheet for how to build or invest in high-growth businesses.

			This book is my answer to their request.

			Fifty years on, I’m still here and casting my vote for the start-up companies that get me excited and keep me working. In late 2020, at eighty-six years of age, I started a new venture firm, Primetime Partners, with an initial $50 million fund to invest in entrepreneurial ideas to do with aging and wellness, and to encourage older entrepreneurs to start again. What could be more exciting than investing in the fastest-growing segment of the population, the one with the most money to spend? This is really a white space that’s relatively untouched. I’m excited by this next move, and I’m really going for it—no red lights. That’s the spirit I’ve brought to every move for the last fifty years. Here, I share it with you: entrepreneurs, venture capitalists, business students, the perennially curious, or anyone who’s preparing for their next move.





Chapter 2

			Sitting Shotgun

			I always knew I wanted to go into finance. When I was a teenager, my father worked as a Wall Street stockbroker, and every day on the way home he’d pick up a copy of the New York World-Telegram so he could read the end-of-day stock prices. That’s how it was done in the days before Bloomberg or the internet. I can still see my father sitting on the sofa, paper open, a cigarette hanging from his mouth with the ash clinging to the burned end until it dropped into his lap. He’d light his next one off the last cinder of the first, the definition of a chain-smoker.

			He showed me how to read the stock pages, with the start-and-closing prices for each of the thousands of companies trading on the various exchanges. It fascinated me to see the prices move up and down, day-over-day, often for no reason. My teenaged obsession was so complete I wallpapered my small bedroom with the front pages of corporate annual reports. When I got to college at Ohio State, I adopted finance as my major, convinced that I wanted to work on Wall Street like my father. There were other opportunities, but nothing I considered for long.

			Though I did flirt. At that time, few companies made the rounds of colleges to recruit new graduates, and those that did concentrated on the Ivies. None of the Wall Street firms came out to Ohio, but I was invited to interviews at Caterpillar in Peoria, Illinois, and the National Bank of Detroit—they were the few big names in town. Through my own efforts, I also interviewed for a job with USAID in Brazil. The safe choice would have been to go with one of those options, but I couldn’t see myself building a life in any of the places I would have had to live.

			I’m a New Yorker through and through. My buddies and I treated Central Park like it was our backyard when I was a kid. The noise, the people, the neighborhood feeling on the Upper West Side with the ice trucks and the coal trucks unloading through the chutes to the underground storage, and the man on the street ringing a bell and calling, “I cash clothes!”

			I had no idea what that meant then or now, but somebody did, because he was there every single day. We played stickball with broom handles on the street, and stoopball off the edge of the stairs of the brownstones. All that, plus of course Wall Street, represented New York to me. After three years away at college on an accelerated program that allowed me to graduate early, I couldn’t wait to get back home.

			That’s how I found myself in the hot weeks of July 1955 wearing out shoe leather in the buildings of Lower Manhattan looking for a job. I started at 110 Wall Street—the bottom of the block—and went building to building, riding the elevator to the top floor and stopping in each office all the way down to ask the receptionist if there were any job openings. Day after day for about a month, all I heard was “no”—no openings and no interest.

			Then one morning in early September I arrived at 63 Wall Street and rode to the thirty-fifth floor, where I knocked on a door with the nameplate Naess & Thomas. I’d never heard of them. Once inside, I learned that Naess & Thomas designed and managed investment portfolios for high-net-worth clients. I didn’t know the Wall Street lexicon yet, and none of the investment advisory firms were famous—certainly not at the level of a J.P. Morgan or Lehman Brothers. I had no idea that “Naess” referred to Ragnar Naess, an esteemed Oslo-born economist who’d built his reputation as the head of research at Goldman Sachs. Nor did I realize until much later that Naess & Thomas was a prestigious place with a high-quality client list. All I knew was I was in the right place at the right time, because they happened to be looking for a securities analyst trainee.

			That morning I sat for an interview with one of the three partners. Ramsay Wilson was a Yalie with a New England accent and a crisp blue button-down shirt with bright suspenders. He was tall and well-coiffed, the perfect person to deal with clients, while the other partners—the older, academic Ragnar, and the head of research, Dave Rosenberg—focused on the portfolios. I was terrified the three of them would think I didn’t have the credentials for the firm. I answered Ramsey’s questions and met the other partners with all the confidence I’d learned selling favors to Ohio State fraternities, though part of my brain ran a parallel program measuring the distance between 63 Wall Street and the business schools of Columbia, Penn, or Harvard. The partners could have gone to any of those places to find a trainee for the firm. They didn’t, though. They hired me. At that time, it felt like the beginning of something big, and it was.
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			To understand what a big deal it was for me to get a job at a prestigious firm like Naess & Thomas, it helps to know a little bit about where I came from.

			Both my parents were immigrants. My father, Martin, came to the US with his five siblings in 1907 as a four-year-old orphan. From Smiela, Ukraine, sixty miles from Kiev and so tiny it wasn’t even on the map, they walked to Antwerp, Belgium, pushed west by a wave of pogroms. Once there, they traveled steerage class on the SS Zeeland to Ellis Island. When I hear that story now, I picture the scene in Fiddler on the Roof when Tevye and his family are forced to flee their village of Anatevka. It is analogous to what is being repeated in the forced emigration from Ukraine that is happening again 100 years later. The difference is my father and his siblings were let in.

			They continued by train to Middletown, Ohio, where their maternal aunt Jenney and her husband, Max Arnovitz, waited to receive them. The Arnovitzes adopted all six Patricof kids, an event so momentous for sleepy Middletown that the town paper chronicled it with a front-page headline.

			Jenney and Max also adopted Jenney’s brother’s two children, plus another orphan Arnovitz family of four. Adding their own biological children made a total of sixteen people in their house.
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			Notice in the Middletown Ohio Press of six orphans when Martin Patricof, including siblings in 1907, came from Smelia, Russia.

			My father was lucky to have a place to go, but to call his upbringing “difficult” would be an understatement. Jenney and Max had decency, but few resources. Pennies made the difference between eating that day or going without, and work for my father quickly became far more important than school (though he did eventually attend and graduate from college). He did any job he could, from delivering newspapers in the dark of night to helping anyone who needed an extra hand. By the age of fifteen, he’d left Ohio to set out on his own. Only once can I remember a reunion with the Arnovitzes, when they came to New York in 1939 to attend the World’s Fair.
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			Alan Patricof with Sal and Jenny Arnovitz (Mima) at the 1939 NY World’s Fair.

			For a decade my father chased jobs around the country: he worked on a tramp steamer to Catalina Island off the California coast, picked limes and oranges, and shoveled coal to stoke furnaces. In 1930, during the depths of the Great Depression, he arrived in New York to go in with his brother Jack and a cousin in a “remnants” business. “Remnants”—or shmatas in Yiddish vernacular—are scrap pieces of cloth left over after a tailor cuts the main pieces for an item of clothing. My father bought the remnants cheap and resold them to be used for lining or edges or filler. It was a low-level business involving much schlepping of merchandise in burlap bags on the end of a baling hook to the small businesses engaged in manual clothing manufacturing in the old loft buildings of SoHo with cast-iron details over the windows.

			Six days a week my father went to his tiny basement shop at 48 Bond Street between Lafayette Street and the Bowery. Saturdays I joined him and carried a bale on my back while we made the rounds to his customers. That neighborhood got an upgrade in the ’00s with renovations and new construction converting the old tenements and brownstones, or replacing them altogether with fancy restaurants and stores occupying their ground floors.

			He would have had a heart attack if he saw what happened to the neighborhood. The famed Il Buco restaurant now occupies the building right across from my father’s old store, which disappeared, along with the building that housed it and the whole remnants business, since no one needed to use scraps anymore once the rations lifted after WWII. My father was long gone by the time the glitterati arrived, having traded the remnants shop for a stockbroker’s desk at Gruntal & Co. For a few years in the mid-1960s, he even sat next to Carl Icahn, who ran the options desk for a time.

			My father would have died at that desk if Gruntal hadn’t taken it from him in the early 1990s. Work was that important to him. My father was in his late eighties by then, and his sales numbers had dropped too low to justify keeping him. I tried at one point to “buy” his desk by guaranteeing a certain dollar amount of commissions for him, but it didn’t fly. In his final working days, when he couldn’t walk the stairs of the subway anymore, he took the bus from his apartment on 92nd Street to Wall Street, a ninety-minute trip. I eventually forced him to take a car, which I paid for, and which cost more than he earned in a day.

			All my father knew was work, not because he wanted to get ahead or improve his social status, but because work for him equaled survival. I share this to make clear the kind of job my father had on Wall Street and the kind of money it earned: namely, low level and not much. There was no upward mobility. He worked “on Wall Street,” but that fact wasn’t going to help me when my time came to start my career. On the contrary, my father’s view was that I should help him. When my mother gave birth to my sister Marcia, twelve years my junior, my father said he was too old at forty-seven to parent her and told me to do it. I was to chase after her and make her practice the piano; I was to scold her when she misbehaved. When I started working, he asked me to call in the orders for Naess & Thomas to him so he could earn the commission. I declined. I didn’t want to start my career like that.

			My father didn’t understand that. He was tough—tough on me, and tough on the world.

			My mother, Dorine, was my father’s opposite in approach, personality, and ambition. Her family came to the United States in 1905 from Mogilev, which at that point in history was part of Tsarist Russia (now it’s the third largest city in Belarus). My grandfather, Isadore, had been a watchmaker in the Old Country. He settled his family in Waterbury, Connecticut, and subsequently opened a small store in New York on Broadway and 146th Street.

			I remember him as a small man with a white starched collar sitting at his workbench with a magnifying glass attached to his glasses. He was formal and a bit cold with my grandmother, Bessie, who was as sweet as could be. For as long as I knew her, she spoke only Yiddish and broken English that she desperately wanted to improve, so she’d ask me to take her to the movies. On weekends there was always a double feature along with the Movietone News with Lowell Thomas and the Pluto cartoons. We sat in the front rows so she could see and hear better and read the actors’ lips. A single run took three or four hours. When it was over, she’d ask to stay and see it again!

			Taking my grandmother to the movies seems like a wholesome and simple activity, but these were post-WWII years marked by a lot of geopolitical turmoil. Whenever the Movietone News discussed some complex issue, my grandmother would  break it down to a simple question: “Is it good for the Jews or bad for the Jews?” She meant it sincerely, but I still ask that question out loud today in all kinds of contexts when conflicting priorities and complex facts are clouding an issue. I do it to add a bit of levity (because it's taken that way now) but also to keep us focused on foundational questions.

			My mother’s family was not affluent, and my grandfather had very little desire to be—it was enough for him to be in the United States and to have his little shop. But my mother and her siblings wanted more. One of her brothers was a good student, went to law school at City College, and ultimately became a New York State Supreme Court justice. My mother, for her part, finished school and immediately moved to the city to take part in what she viewed as the glamour and excitement of New York. She got a job at Hearns Department Store, where my father saw her through the window one day and thought she was a model.

			They married in June 1933. My father always said that he married my mother for her money: he had five dollars and she had ten dollars. In truth, most people were living on the edge during those long years of the Depression. They made it through on my father’s work ethic and my mother’s ingenuity. She took care of everything to do with the household and their children—me, my sister Jaclyn, and my much younger sister Marcia. Mom was the sweetest person you could imagine, but she cared about superficial appearances, and my father, who was the tough one, reluctantly went along for the ride.

			In my earliest memories we lived at 444 Central Park West, at 104th Street, but when I was six years old, we moved downtown twelve blocks to 92nd Street because my mother thought we should. Moving downtown in those days was code for moving up in the world—92nd Street was better than 104th, 86th would have been better still, and 72nd Street would have been nirvana.

			Our new building had a name—The Ardsley—which also signaled its superior quality. Located at 320 Central Park West, it had three banks of elevators associated with three tiers of apartments. The front elevator bank served apartments at the front of the building with windows overlooking the Park; the middle bank served apartments facing 92nd Street; and the rear bank served apartments facing the rear courtyard. Our small apartment was at the back, but we had a terrace facing 92nd Street, and if you were willing to risk your life and lean far enough over the railing, you could catch a flash of green from the Park. For that, my mother told people we had a “Park view.”

			Later, our building became famous for the fact that Barbra Streisand owned a penthouse duplex there and kept it through the early ’00s (front bank, of course). Mom liked that. It helped with her ongoing efforts to construct a picture of our family for the outside world. She aimed high and made it look like we were already at the top by shopping for school clothes at Ohrbach’s and then cutting out the labels to replace them with Macy’s, which was upscale by comparison.

			Don’t misunderstand—Mom wasn’t frivolous with money. I never saw her in a dress that cost more than fifteen dollars, and I vividly remember her doing all the housework herself, on her knees washing the floor to make it shine. But she didn’t want us to work like that, and was willing to sacrifice personally to give us opportunities. After we were all grown and gone, she took an administrative job at Chase Manhattan Bank, a secret she kept from us for the rest of her life. I’m pretty sure she and my father needed the money to live.

			And me? I am their son, equal parts my father and my mother. My father valued work and encouraged me at the age of six to launch my entrepreneurial career selling The Saturday Evening Post outside the 103rd Street, 8th Avenue subway station. When the United States entered WWII, I went door-to-door in our apartment building collecting tin cans and newspapers for the war effort, as well as selling war bonds. I was so good at it I won an award.

			But my mother valued education and saw it as a path away from the kind of work she saw as low-end and low-status. As a result of her saving and machinations, I started seventh grade at Horace Mann, one of the most prestigious boys’ private schools in the city. Sending me there was a sacrifice, especially with my sister Jaclyn two years behind me attending the private Calhoun School. For six years I boarded the subway each day in my jacket and tie, a habit of dress and schedule that has stayed with me to this day.
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			Like many elite schools, Horace Mann had a strong culture of school pride. Students were taught to expect great things from themselves and from each other, and we did. I still keep in contact with local graduates in my cohort, and a group of us meets about four times a year for lunch in Manhattan. Among them are my friends Richard “Dick” Eisner, who started a now-large New York accounting firm, and Larry Goodman, who started and ran what grew to be a large law firm. I was the first client for both of them, and through multiple mergers and iterations on both sides, my firm was still a client until recently. These kinds of relationships—forged and maintained for years—are an ongoing theme for me in my career and life.

			For better or worse, Horace Mann also gave me a certain entitlement about my future prospects. The Ivy League was the ultimate goal for college, but I was rejected from Princeton, my first choice. I’d put all my eggs in that basket and was left, come graduation, with no college to go to. I scrambled, reapplied to a handful of places (which you could do then), and by August, had acceptances in hand from Brandeis, Columbia, Ohio State, and the University of Pennsylvania.

			I initially opted for the first. Brandeis was only in its fourth year since its founding by a group of American Jews, who were responding to the discrimination they saw from elite universities. Today, Brandeis University is a top-ranked liberal arts college with a diverse student body, but it was just getting started back then. For me, it was an unenthusiastic choice, and I was feeling uncertain the night I headed alone to the Sherry-Netherland hotel in New York City, where the school was holding a pre-term orientation meeting. Once there, I found myself surrounded by young men and their parents speaking Yiddish, wearing black hats and coats, and sporting long beards. I knew immediately it wasn’t for me.

			I was raised Jewish, too, but of the reform tradition. Being “Jewish” for me meant going to synagogue on the High Holidays and having holiday dinners. Needless to say, I was very uncomfortable seeing so many Orthodox people around. It gave me the impression that Brandeis—which at the time had only a few hundred students—had a more religious bent than I had bargained for. I panicked, rushed home, and literally slapped an Ohio State address label on my trunk before sending it off on the Railway Express Agency (the forerunner to American Express).

			I followed my trunk a few days later feeling hurt, angry, and disappointed. I’d imagined a totally different start to my college life, and it was hard to let go. But during the two-day drive west I managed to convince myself that Ohio was going to be okay. A Big Ten college experience could be fun, and with my academic background, I’d be ahead. By the time I turned onto Ohio State’s Fraternity Row in the slightly used 1952 white Oldsmobile convertible my father had bought a few weeks before, I was ready to start the next phase of my life.

			Step one was to pledge a fraternity. OSU was top-to-bottom a Greek school, and joining a fraternity was one sure way to peel off from the anonymous crowd of twenty thousand students and join a band of “brothers.” Rush Week starts before the semester kicks off: seven days of parties, drinking, gorging, and everything else you can imagine. The fraternities compete for the pledges they want, and I found myself in demand. My connection to Horace Mann came in handy after all, as did my semi-new convertible and the modicum of comfort I had discussing world events and sports—and chatting up girls. I chose Zeta Beta Tau (ZBT), as much for the new, modern frat house and parking space for my car as for the organization itself. It beat living in the dorms.

			As I settled in, life at OSU became a cycle of classes and studying, capped by Friday night bonfires, pep rallies with the marching band, and Saturday football games. My parents paid my tuition of a few hundred dollars a year (yes, a few hundred), but I was responsible for my living expenses, which I met by juggling multiple jobs. It occurs to me now that I was walking in my father’s shoes by trying different kinds of work. I wrote a column for The Columbus Citizen-Journal; I did consumer research for the Brown Shoe Company; I worked for Burlington Industries scraping the cylinders from the Dictaphone machine so it could be recorded over again; I delivered telegrams for Western Union.

			I even started a small business selling striped “rep” ties and fraternity “favors,” like pins and scarves and keychains imprinted with the fraternity logo and given away at parties. I went around to all the fraternities with my samples and called on the social director, who placed the orders. In a school with tens of thousands of people, selling favors made a decent high-volume low-value business, and I became established enough that I was able to sell it to an underclassman for a small sum of money when I graduated.

			Those jobs served my needs while I was in Ohio, and they also showed me plenty that I didn’t want for my life. Trudging up and down Fraternity Row with my favor samples, beholden to the whims of the fraternity social directors, made me think of my father selling shmatas, or later, stocks—something he was adamant I not do. It was better to be on the buying side, my father said, not the selling side.

			That mantra was on my mind in the summer of 1955 on the return trip to New York from Ohio with a BS next to my name. Thanks to my AP credits and a few extra courses, I had managed to graduate in three years, long enough to be away in my view. I was going home, and I couldn’t wait to start my life.
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			I spent about three months going door-to-door in the buildings along Wall Street before I received the offer from Naess & Thomas. I moved back in with my parents and Marcia (Jaclyn was studying at Boston University). I’m probably not the first to say that the post-college return home felt like wearing shoes that had been broken in by someone else. It was a relief to have somewhere to live for free while I was getting my bearings, but the place didn’t fit me anymore. I was almost grateful when, a month after I started my new job, my father began charging me rent. It was the gust of wind I needed to blow out and rent my own place with a fellow I knew from Ohio State.

			In my day-to-day job at Naess & Thomas, I analyzed the securities of public companies that the partners were considering for a portfolio. Ragnar, the economist and firm founder, spent his time making estimates and predictions about industry trends, and Dave Rosenberg, the head of research, followed up by identifying companies likely to benefit if Ragnar’s predications came true.

			Once they agreed on companies of interest, I got a list to investigate. At my desk I had a Keuffel & Esser slide rule, a Marchant calculator, and arms-reach access to the most current editions of Standard & Poor’s Guide and Moody’s—these were like the Wikipedia of publicly-traded companies in the days when information traveled by post and paper, not bits and bytes. S&P and Moody’s had reams of historical information about every company trading on a US exchange, which at that time represented just over four thousand stocks and bonds and totaled just over $300 billion in market value. To give a sense of scale, Amazon, Apple, and Microsoft are each individually worth around $2 trillion, more than six times the value of all publicly traded firms in 1955.

			When I couldn’t find the information I needed on a company, I dug into the brokerage reports produced by Argus Research, or by Goldman Sachs and the other sell-side firms who could afford to do their own research and give it away to entice investors.

			I also attended the New York Society of Securities Analysts luncheons held on the second floor of Schwartz’s Restaurant next to the New York Stock Exchange. Believe me, no one went for the food or the service, delivered by surly waiters who practically threw the dishes at you. Instead, those lunches were the place to hear public company CEOs give presentations disclosing the current quarter results and projecting the likely results for the year. I vividly remember the creak and rustle of movement as members rose from their chairs to slip out and use the bank of pay phones in the lobby to call in a buy or sell order in response to what we heard—all perfectly legal in the years before “forward-looking statements” were forbidden by the SEC (the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission). I learned a good deal at those meetings, and I met a lot of people, too, some of whom became friends and connections I would later call on—and who would call on me.

			On my walk back to the office I would stop outside the New York Stock Exchange and spend a few minutes watching the market ticker count off the current stock prices. I had already started to do some trading on my own—everyone who worked on Wall Street did. Friends I made at those luncheons would tell me about a pending new issue and offer me allocations to buy a certain number of shares at the IPO price—all completely aboveboard and legitimate. Today the same system is in place, except most of the allocations are much larger and earmarked for institutional investors. Getting an allocation for a hot issue in those days was tantamount to instant profit, because almost every issue went from the list price to a premium in the first few minutes of trading. The money I earned in the market at that time helped supplement my salary of just fifty-five dollars a week. I was able to live on the Upper East Side of Manhattan and have more fun than I could have had with my salary alone. I was fortunate as well to avoid any major losses, though I also took pains to avoid too much risk. I didn’t have the stomach for it.

			I learned that I’m not a gambler the one time I experimented with short-selling a stock. I made the call to my broker one Friday during the summer to short Polaroid and then got on the bus to Long Beach Island, New Jersey, where I had rented a summer cottage. I sweated buckets during the two-hour ride. Since there were no cell phones back then, I was out of touch for that time. When the bus stopped at the rest area in Manahawkin, New Jersey, I rushed to the pay phone, called my broker, and as soon as he picked up yelled, “Cover!”—Street-speak for buying shares to cover an open short. I never forgot that feeling of panic from being out of contact and exposed, and never shorted again.

			New fuel was just starting to feed the revving metabolism of Wall Street in those years. New investment banking firms came to be that would later play an important role in the wave of new issues that began in the late ’60s and ’70s. Among the most famous firms were Carter, Berlind, Weill, & Levitt (CBWL), otherwise known on the Street as Corned Beef with Lettuce; Marron Eden & Schloss; Faulkner, Dawkins & Sullivan; Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette (DLJ); and the so-called “four horsemen”—Alex Brown, Hambrecht & Quist, Robertson Stephens, and Montgomery Securities.

			The leaders at the helms of these companies would rise to become the top financiers in New York City and Silicon Valley, among them: Sandy Weill, CEO of Citigroup; Arthur Carter, Publisher of The New York Observer and today a successful sculptor; Roger Berlind, a Broadway producer; Arthur Levitt, famed Chairman of the SEC; Don Marron, the former CEO of Mitchell Hutchins and Chairman of The Museum of Modern Art; Bill Hambrecht, one of the best known financial executives in tech; Bill Donaldson, who served as Chairman of the SEC and as Dean of The Yale School of Management; Dan Lufkin, Environmental Commissioner of the State of Connecticut; and Dick Jenrette, CEO of Equitable Life Insurance Co.

			These people and their firms were poised to leap on the opportunities that would emerge. I was there working with them, learning from them, and bringing them promising companies when I came across one. They all became longtime friends.

			Ragnar Naess was my primary mentor at that time. He was an advocate of “value investing,” the approach described by Columbia University professors Benjamin Graham and David Dodd in their famous book, Security Analysis. Warren Buffett and Charlie Munger at Berkshire Hathaway are probably the most famous (not to mention successful) value investors on the planet. Naess & Thomas mostly bought stocks of established companies in traditional industries that for some reason or another were undervalued compared to what Ragnar saw as their potential. Diversification was a major priority for the portfolios, and applied to types of assets, as well as to industry exposure. Ragnar regularly said that he loved a particular company, and when the stock price went down 50 percent, he loved it twice as much.

			Among the companies I was asked to analyze at that time were Rohm and Haas, a chemical company founded in Germany in 1909 and now owned by DuPont, and Premier Industrial Corporation, an electronics and vehicle parts dealer. But the one that really sticks in my mind was a little company in Rochester, New York, called Haloid Corporation, which had developed a process known as thermography to let office workers make a copy of an image or a sheet of writing. Back then we all used carbons to create duplicates, but Haloid quickly brought about the end of that with their “Thermofax Copies.” Later, the company branded its product “Xerox” and renamed the company Haloid-Xerox and then just Xerox. I like to believe that I experienced a tingle of premonition when I did the analysis that resulted in us purchasing stock in this early technological pioneer. Haloid was the first firm I ever saw dabbling in unexplored territory.

			Between the lessons I learned from Ragnar and David and from the lunch meetings I attended, you would think my head would have had its fill of new information, and it did. But I still jumped at the chance to get my master’s degree when—through Ragnar’s urging and with his support—I applied to and was admitted to Columbia Business School. Ragnar and the other partners let me restructure my schedule to leave early to attend afternoon classes. I graduated in the spring of 1957. Columbia (where today I sit on the Board of Overseers) played a critical role in solidifying my understanding of Graham and Dodd and their ideas. I learned to appreciate the value of “net-free cash flow,” to understand the burden debt can put on a young company, and how to evaluate earnings and dividends as determinants of business value.

			In today’s world, valuations are determined primarily based on multiples of revenues, with less consideration given to immediate profits. There is a definite trend towards extrapolating growth rates and making assumptions about how fast and for how long a company will grow. This pattern is apparent in the valuations given to companies like Zoom and Peloton, which will require fifty years of earnings to justify current prices. Valuations were less grounded in wishful thinking when I was coming up, and I learned to calculate them based on the core practice taught at Columbia.

			Grad school also introduced me to my first wife, Bette, who I met on campus when she was a graduate student at The Columbia University School of Dramatic Arts. We married in February of 1958 and went to London for our honeymoon, where we strolled the sites and joked each night in our too-cold second-floor room in the Cavendish about the hotel’s rumored side door that Edward VII reportedly used to visit his mistress—the prior owner—for a rendezvous. The room was unheated, requiring a hot water bottle to warm the bed.

			The marriage lasted seven years before Bette and I mutually decided that the relationship was not working. Like many young couples, we didn’t know each other very well when we decided to get married, and we quickly found that we were incompatible. Every day of our marriage brought a new argument, each less important than the last. When we started fighting in front of our eighteen-month-old son, it became clear that continuing the marriage wouldn’t benefit any of us, and we decided that I would leave.

			Despite our conflicts, Bette was very supportive of my early career, as I was supportive of hers (she was part of the team at the Met that set up the department responsible for making reproductions of famous works, now a major source of revenue for the museum). We also had a wonderful son, Mark, who we continued to raise together after our marriage ended in 1966.
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			Naess & Thomas gave me a prestigious start in the investment business, and it also gave me the tools to understand industry trends and to evaluate the potential value of a company. But after two years I started to feel like I was making only right turns, covering the same ground in varying intervals. The process used to analyze a public company doesn’t change much from firm to firm, and I had learned all I could from doing it.

			I was ready for a new challenge.

			I was also wary of the fact that there was an active draft in place. I was fit and healthy and in the right age bracket, and I knew if I got called up it would mean two years of active duty. To avoid it, I could volunteer for six months of active duty, and then eight years in the reserves, which involved weekly meetings and two weeks every summer of active duty at Fort Drum in Watertown, NY—all this to legitimately get out of two full years of active-duty service. I took that route and joined the US Army in the 411th Quartermaster Corps based in Fort Dix, New Jersey, Company N, Third Training Regimen. Ultimately the joke was on me, but not until later.

			Basic training was exactly as it’s depicted in every military movie ever made. I crawled through mud and scrambled over fences. The friendships I made were also as strong as you see in those buddy films. I occasionally got an overnight pass to leave the base, handed out at 7:00 p.m. with no advance warning. On those rare occasions, I scrambled to catch the bus into the city to see my wife for a few hours before scrambling back to base again in time for reveille the next morning.

			I was discharged in September, and shortly after returning to the city, I got a call from a headhunter who suggested I’d find it worthwhile to meet with an innovative “development finance” firm—a term I had never heard. Curious, I went one morning to 2 Wall Street, the Morgan Stanley headquarters building in those days, to meet and eventually accept a position from Jean Lambert, of Lambert & Co.

			Jean Lambert was in his late thirties or early forties at the time, debonair and well-dressed in that distinctly European way that shows up in the cut of the suit or the pattern and color of his tie—all of it more vivid than is typical in a Wall Street banker. Jean spoke English with a strong French accent that got thicker when he talked about building companies and trying out new ideas. That he got his money from a divorce settlement from his wife, Phyllis Bronfman—an architect and one of the sibling inheritors of the Seagram’s fortune—added to his celebrity. But even without that cachet, Jean was charismatic and on the move. He’d already established offices in London and Paris, and when I met him, he was building his office on Wall Street in New York.

			And what an office! Jean had fashioned it to resemble his vision of the most successful firms of the time—Morgan Stanley, Lazard, and Milbank Tweed—with heavy green carpet, wide corridors, mahogany rolltop desks, and antique chairs made of walnut with green leather seats. The employees had their desks in a wide hall framed by a line of doors to the outer offices, which were always kept closed. Most of those offices were empty, but visitors didn’t know that. The combined effect of all that bustle in the hallway and the line of closed doors gave the appearance of a firm at the height of demand. Coupled with the rich furnishings, Lambert & Co. looked like money. Its aura stated it was a place that had been and would be there for years.

			Jean reinforced that image by signing with the best service providers. He used Sullivan & Cromwell as his lawyers, Price Waterhouse as his accountants, and wrote his checks off a JP Morgan account. There was morning coffee and afternoon tea service brought to each employee by a tuxedoed butler and a maid named Winnie, who wore a black dress with a white apron and gloves. We also had lunch served in the wood-paneled dining room, prepared by the kindly full-time chef and served by Winnie on porcelain china with sterling silver platters and cutlery. I often invited friends to join me, as there weren’t enough of us in the office to use all the table settings. Guests were the point, anyway—the place was there to show off. We felt like kids playing on a stage set.

			The team at Lambert & Co. consisted of Jean and his three boring senior partners, all of whom had come from name-brand firms, including Price Waterhouse, Sullivan & Cromwell, and The Bank of Montreal. There were two other mid-level employees, and I was the lone junior researcher.

			Whereas Naess & Thomas was about investing in established, solid companies, Lambert & Co. was about creation—the ideal outlet for Jean’s innovative sensibility. In the short time I worked there, Lambert & Co. established an oil company, a finance company called Atlantic Acceptance, and a Canadian real estate company called Royal York Development. We also spent months trying to win a deal with the government of Portugal to finance a bridge across the Tagus river. Jean had conceived of the idea of using Portugal’s gold reserves as collateral to raise funds, since the country’s economy was weak. I traveled to Lisbon with the annual reports and financial statements of the leading central banks in the world stashed in my suitcase, so I could compare their gold reserves with Portugal’s. However, nothing ever came of it.

			Something did come, however, of work I did with a small telecommunications company serving auto parts manufacturers in Hancock, Michigan. This company landed on my desk because no one else was interested. With the exception of Jean, the employees at Lambert were a flat lot. Jean was the brains, the heartbeat, and the soul of Lambert & Co. When he was around, life breathed through the place, and when he wasn’t…well, let’s just say he wasn’t around much, as he spent long stretches of time in Europe. By some trick of luck, I got to look into Hancock Telecontrols, which was working on solutions to automate the flow of goods through a manufacturing plant, monitor work-in-process, and improve employee productivity. I’m not sure that I fully understood the potential of Xerox when I had first seen it years before, but with Hancock, I had no doubt I was looking at a technology innovation poised to explode. Lambert did some work with the company and Hancock Telecontrols did okay, though they were probably too early to market. As it happened, it would be another two decades before industrial “automation” was widely embraced.

			As much satisfaction as I had with Hancock and Portugal, there wasn’t enough of that going on at Lambert & Co. to keep me busy, and no real mentorship with Jean coming and going as much as he did. I ended up staying for around two years, until 1960, when my friend Bob Menschel, a partner at Goldman Sachs and a regular guest at my fancy Lambert lunches, told me about a position with Central National Corporation, the investing vehicle for the Gottesman family. I took the job and left Lambert for what would become the next major phase of my investing career.

			There’s an odd coda to the Lambert story. Lambert & Co. actually blew up several years after I left when a fraud at Atlantic Acceptance pushed that firm under and Lambert, overexposed, went with it. I hardly thought of Jean Lambert and my time with his company until one day in the early 1970s, when he called and asked me to meet him at his suite at the Plaza Hotel. I went and found him much changed from the sophisticated and debonair man who had been my boss. During our short reunion, he asked me for a loan of $100,000, which he said he would secure with some of his new wife’s jewelry. I was in no position to make such a loan and declined with as much gentleness as is possible while being direct. I walked away from the Plaza sad and disturbed, and swearing I would never let that happen to me.
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